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NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING

Monday, June 4, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:28 a.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.


The Board is convened this morning in the matter of a notice of motion brought by Thunder Bay Hydro Electricity Distribution Inc., which is dated March 16th, 2007.


The notice of motion sought leave of the Board to bring this notice of motion for review outside the 20 calendar days from the date of the vary order, which is being appealed, dated December 29th, 2006; and, number two, for the review of the vary order on Board File No. RP-2005‑0020/EB‑2005‑0419 with respect to Thunder Bay's 2007 distribution rates.


On May 10th, 2007, the Board received a letter from Thunder Bay Hydro amending its notice of motion to request that, one, the Board review and vary its decision in EB‑2007‑0580, which is dated April 20th, 2007, which was Thunder Bay's 2007 rates case, and also that the Board combine this proceeding, which has been designated by the Board as EB‑2007‑0067, with the review of the 2007 rates proceeding. 


The Board granted Thunder Bay's request in both of those instances.  On Thursday, May 31st, the Board received a further amendment of the notice of motion respecting further relief related to an assertion by Thunder Bay Hydro that there was an error in the original 2006 filing, related to the revenue from pole rentals, and that matter is before us this morning by way of amendment.


My name is Paul Sommerville.  I will be presiding today.  Sitting with me is Mr. Paul Vlahos.  Can I have appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MS. SEBALJ:  Kristi Sebalj, Board counsel, and I'm accompanied by Martin Davies and Lenore Dougan.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Pat Moran for Thunder Bay Hydro, and I have with me Ms. Cindy Speziale from Thunder Bay Hydro.  She is VP finance.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  The Board has read the transcript of the Technical Conference.  Are there any preliminary matters that the Board needs to deal with before we get to the substance of the motion?


MS. SEBALJ:  I have none, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran?


MR. MORAN:  None, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, as part of the amendment, there was a filing of some material on the 31st, that was in the nature of an agreed statement of facts.  Would you like to address that document at this stage, please?


MR. MORAN:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  In fact, there is a bound document now, which I am not sure if it has been distributed to you yet --


MS. SEBALJ:  I did put it ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  -- called compendium.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  Perhaps we could just mark that as an exhibit, and then I will tell you exactly what it is.


MS. SEBALJ:  Mark it as Exhibit J1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. J1.1:  COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS FILED BY THUNDER BAY HYDRO ELECTRICITY DISTRIBUTION INC.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  That's the compendium of the materials filed by Thunder Bay Hydro Electricity Distribution Inc.


MR. MORAN:  That's correct, Mr. Chair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  So what you have in this document, Mr. Chair, at tab 1 is a statement setting out the chronology and a number of facts.  It is divided into five parts.  


When Board Staff and Thunder Bay Hydro were looking at this matter, it was pretty clear to everybody that it's a bit of a plate of spaghetti, and we were trying to figure out the best way to present some of the non-controversial aspects of this case in a way that would help the Board to deal with the application that is before you.


So as you can see, in part 1, in the introduction of that statement of facts, it indicates that there is agreement between Board Staff, at least, and Thunder Bay Hydro with respect to a number of the facts that are set out in part 2, which is the chronology and facts giving rise to the variance request.  


And in part 3 and in part 5, there is agreement that at least the quantification of the amounts that Thunder Bay proposes to recover is not controversial, subject to the usual Board due diligence that would apply to any amount that anybody wants to recover in rates.  


So that is the purpose of this document.  It also sets out the actual relief that Thunder Bay is seeking in part 4, with respect to the original issue, the large use customer issue, and in part 5 you see the treatment of the new issue that was added by way of the amendment regarding the double-counting of the pole rental revenue.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Moran, there are two intervenors of record, being Shaw Communication and School Energy Coalition.  Have they been served with documents related to the Technical Conference and subsequently?


MR. MORAN:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  They have been copied with everything.  They were copied with the notice, the formal notice of amendment on the issue that was first raised at the Technical Conference.  They were provided with most of the documents that are also in this compendium, and the two that they weren't provided with were the 2006 EDR models.  That was identified in the communication with them and, if they wanted it, they could get it.  


The reason it wasn't provided is that it is a 7 megabyte electronic file and it bounces back on the e‑mails, but they were alerted to the fact it existed and if they wanted it.  There has been no communication from either intervenor, and clearly they're not here today, as well.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  Again, given the nature of what is before you, Mr. Chair, I know we don't normally spend a lot of time in direct evidence, but I think in this case it might actually be useful to walk you through what we have here, so that you have an opportunity to understand why Thunder Bay is seeking the relief that it is seeking here today before you today.


I don't know if you have had a chance to read the chronology and statement of facts in any detail, but I think there is some context around aspects of the chronology that will be helpful to you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has read that material, but I think we would profit from evidence from the witness, a reasonable amount of evidence to this effect.


As you know, there are a couple of elements to this motion.  The first is the question of, I guess, the threshold question, the notice being significantly out of time.


Do you want to address that subject now, just before we start down this path?


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, my thinking on that issue is that there is some evidence that you will hear that will ‑‑ which I will be relying on to make argument on that timing issue.  So from my perspective, I think I need to get that evidence on the record, as well, and I think it will take about 20 to 30 minutes in total to get all of the evidence on the record. 


What I was going to propose is that in argument we deal with all of the issues, all of the threshold questions have been raised, and then whatever turns on the merits at the same time so that you have everything that you need.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that makes sense.  That's fine.


MR. MORAN:  Perhaps the witness can be sworn, Mr. Chair.

THUNDER BAY HYDRO ELECTRICITY DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1


Cindy Speziale, Sworn.

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. MORAN:  

MR. MORAN:  Ms. Speziale, I understand that you are a chartered accountant.


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, I am.


MR. MORAN:  And that you have been employed by Thunder Bay Hydro for approximately nine years?


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  And, currently, your title at Thunder Bay Hydro is vice president finance?


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's right.


MR. MORAN:  Which I understand you -- that's a position that you took in -- starting in May of this year?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  And you were replacing Mr. Wright, who had been the vice president of finance prior to May; right?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.


MR. MORAN:  He is now retired?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  Prior to being vice president finance, you were the controller?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  I understand you reported to Mr. Wright at that time?


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's right.


MR. MORAN:  Now, with respect to the 2006 EDR rates application, who was responsible for putting together that application?  Was it you or Mr. Wright?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Mr. Wright was responsible.


MR. MORAN:  And did you have any role to play in the preparation of the 2006 application?


MS. SPEZIALE:  My main role was in the PILs, with respect to the PILs information.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  I understand that you also had some involvement in preparing some of the schedules that went with the model. 


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct. 


MR. MORAN:  Who was responsible for preparing the model itself?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Mr. Wright was. 


MR. MORAN:  And who was responsible for preparing the manager's summary that went with the model?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  That was Mr. Wright as well. 


MR. MORAN:  Now, as I understand it, that application was filed in August of 2005? 


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes. 


MR. MORAN:  And there was an amendment to the application filed in November of 2005. 


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct. 


MR. MORAN:  Did that have anything to do with the issues that are before the Board today?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  


MR. MORAN:  As I understand it, the amendment dealt with the transfer of some billing services to an affiliate?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.  


MR. MORAN:  Now, we have before the Board two issues.  The first one has to do with the migration of large-use customers and the second issue has to do with the double-counting of pole rental revenue.  I have a few questions then on both of those issues.  


Starting with the first one, the large-use customer migration issue:  Were you involved in that issue directly as part of the preparation of the 2006 EDR application?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No, I was not.  


MR. MORAN:  Who was that?  Was that Mr. Wright? 


MS. SPEZIALE:  That was Mr. Wright. 


MR. MORAN:  When did you first become involved in that issue?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I became involved in the potential error in the 2006 rates during the course of doing our load data with Hydro One for the cost allocation review.  


The significance of the impact of the fictitious large-use customer as well as statistics, became in question.  


MR. MORAN:  And when did that happen?



MS. SPEZIALE:  In the fall of 2006.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  I gather once that issue was identified at that time, it was then raised with Board Staff; is that correct?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I reviewed the situation and passed on the information to Mr. Wright, who followed up with Board Staff.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  The actual problem that was identified, how would you describe that to the Board?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  In the original model, Mr. Wright had used I believe it was worksheet 8.5, and he entered direct mitigation in order to force the intermediate rate class that he had proposed to work, and in the model itself he had added one customer, assuming a 5,000 kilowatt per month load, which was not an actual customer.  It was a fictitious customer.  


MR. MORAN:  And the Board, in its decision on that Application, turned down the proposal with respect to that intermediate rate class.  So what was the impact of the Board's order at that point?  

MS. SPEZIALE:  At that point there was no revision of the worksheet 8.5 mitigation, as well as the large-use customer count and kilowatt-hour statistics was left in the model.  So a portion of the revenue requirement was allocated to that fictitious load.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So as we're going through the chronology as we see in the statement of fact, part 2, Mr. Wright contacted Board Staff when the problem was identified in the fall of 2006?  Is that correct?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  


MR. MORAN:  And subsequently, as I understand it, as set out in the statement of fact, there was a letter to Board Staff dated December 7, of 2006, which also raised the issue; correct?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.  


MR. MORAN:  And in response to that letter, the Board issued the vary order that is part of the record today?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  In terms of what you actually seek to recover, then, I have a couple of questions to take you through.  


If you could turn up tab 4 of the compendium, Exhibit J1.1.  Tab 4 is a spreadsheet with two sheets and I wonder if you could start with the first sheet, which is entitled:  Revenue shortfall - mitigation issue.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.  The first sheet addresses the mitigation issue.  That was the direct mitigation column entries in worksheet 8.5.  


This is the one that was corrected, or addressed by the Board staff in the vary order.  However, there was a portion relating -- the vary order was effective for rates January 1st, 2007.  So the portion that relates for the period from May 1st, 2006 to December 31st, 2006 was left to be addressed, and that is the portion in the far right column, the 70,088.  


MR. MORAN:  Is that the amount that the Board in the vary order indicated that Thunder Bay could file a proposal on how to recover?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I'm not sure that the amount was addressed, but that essentially is what they said.  They corrected the rates for January 1st, 2007 and the balance should be addressed through the -- it was up to us to propose a solution.  


MR. MORAN:  Then turning to the second sheet, then, which is entitled revenue shortfall - customer migration.  What do we see on that spreadsheet?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  This spreadsheet removes any reference to the large user count, in the count of one and the kilowatt-hour statistics from the model.  It reruns the model, and this is the difference in the rates that would result.  So the far right-hand column is the 191,082, so that is related to the migration issue.  


MR. MORAN:  When you say that this removes the notional large-use customer from the model, are you referring to the 2006 EDR model?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I am. 


MR. MORAN:  Do we take it the $191,000 relates to the additional revenue requirement for the 2006 rates period?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct. 


MR. MORAN:  Then how does this relate to the 2007 rates period?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Well, because the 2007 rates are an adjustment of the 2006 rates, the error would carry forward into the 2007.  If the other error was left uncorrected in the 2006.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  The amounts associated with what would happen in 2007, we find those also set out in the statement of fact; correct?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Speziale, just a question.  You indicated that the Board had the first spreadsheet under tab 4 of the compendium at the time of the vary order.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  I didn't -- I'm not sure that they had that spreadsheet.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When was this spreadsheet, when were these spreadsheets actually produced?  


MR. MORAN:  These have been prepared for the purposes of this hearing. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Of this hearing?  


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much. 


MR. MORAN:  So that we're in a position to quantify exactly what it is that Thunder Bay Hydro is attempting to or seeking to recover. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Could I ask, Mr. Moran.  When you refer to these – actually, I just need to check the index.  I see.  I was going to ask you to cross-reference them because I have them marked differently in my package and I want to make sure I'm referring to the right tables, but they're cross-referenced in the index.  So I apologize.  


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, just again for your convenience.  If you look at the index, this is the point that Ms. Sebalj was just raising, and I should have identified this at the outset.  


If you look at the index, you will see that Exhibits or sorry, tabs 2 through 5 all start with the heading of Exhibit A, then there is a number after that.  So there is A1, A2, A3 and A4.  Then you see a similar series, B1, B2, B3 and B4.  


The difference between the A series and B series, the A series deals with the customer migration issue alone.  And the B series deals with the customer migration plus the pole rental revenue issue.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  


MR. MORAN:  Now, Ms. Speziale, turning now to tab 5 of Exhibit J1.1, we see a spreadsheet that is entitled:  Bill impact resulting from correction for customer migration.  


What does this spreadsheet tell the Board?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Essentially what I -- I ran the 2006 EDR model and determined what the rates should be and I flowed that through to the 2007 IRM and used the adjusted 2006 EDR rates.  Essentially, this goes through and gives us what the difference is, and using the statistics in the 2006 EDR, carried it through to see what the fixed and volumetric difference was.  Then the three columns in the far right-hand show the consumption data that I used for my analysis.  And it just basically sets out what the impact is on the ‑‑ like, for example, the residential customer with 1,000 kilowatt hours.  The dollar impact of the adjustment is 1.575 percent.


MR. MORAN:  As I understand it, Ms. Speziale, this is set up on the basis of recovery up to October 31st of this year, assuming an implementation date of November 1st is proposed?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  Now, Ms. Speziale, as part of the process, there were some interrogatories that were asked by Board Staff in this proceeding, and in Interrogatory No. 9 there was a question with respect to charge determinants and the accuracy of the charge determinants.


There was a citation to some comments that had been made in filings by Mr. Wright.  What have you done to address the issue that was raised in Interrogatory No. 9?


MS. SPEZIALE:  I've gone back through the various pieces of information in the figures, as disclosed in Exhibit A1, which is worksheet 6-2 of the EDR model.


MR. MORAN:  As I understand it, we will find that worksheet ‑‑


MS. SPEZIALE:  At tab 5 ‑‑ sorry, 2.  It is the last page of tab 2.


MR. MORAN:  Last page?


MS. SPEZIALE:  And the information that is on here is the results of my review.  And I am satisfied that in all material respects the determinants as presented here are sufficiently accurate to allow this data to be used for rate-making purposes.


An example of a change that was made in the original EDR model, the street lighting under the number ‑‑ on the far left-hand corner, the number of customers.  Originally Mr. Wright had entered the number of actual customers as three in each of those years.  So that has been revised, because it should have been the number of actual connections.


As well, the ‑-


MR. MORAN:  How does that change work in the context of the relief that you are seeking?  Does it increase the revenue requirement or does it act as an offset?


MS. SPEZIALE:  It doesn't increase the revenue.  The revenue requirement stays the same, but the allocation among the classes would change.  So this actually had approximately a $50,000 impact on the error, or the quantification of the error.  


There was also adjustment to the other -- greater than 50 and less than 1,000.  Mr. Wright had ‑‑ he had decreased the larger class by four and the offsetting increase in the class below was not increased by the four.  So I followed that through, as well, in the statistics.


MR. MORAN:  In the third box in that spreadsheet that is entitled "Demand Data Kilowatts" --


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  -- I see there are some comments there.  Can you explain those as well, please.


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  There is two parts to that comment.  There is the ‑‑ with respect to the four, the four customers in one class, in the higher class to the lower class, there were 17,083 kW that was moved.  So that it was a consistent approach.  Where he moved the count, the kilowatt‑hour stats were also moved to correspond.


There was actually an adjustment to the -- to the statistics in 2004 that Mr. Wright had actually addressed in response to the interrogatories of the original 2006 rates that actually weren't flowed through to the actual final approved rates, and that represents the balance, the 50,245.  So that has now been flowed through and adjusted here, as well.


MR. MORAN:  Now, you indicated that as a result of looking back, you are able to produce 6-2 and the charge determinants, and you are comfortable with how they are set out there.  I understand as part of the exercise of looking back, you also identified an additional issue with respect to the pole rental revenue and how it was treated.


Can you take the Board through that issue, please.  If we look at tab 1, the statement of facts at page 4.


MS. SPEZIALE:  Based on the model input, pole rental revenue gets included in two worksheets, both of which form part of the revenue offsets.


On worksheet 5.2, which is shown at the bottom half of that page, under specific service charges, there is pole rental revenue included in that number.  As well, dropping down two, under "Other Distribution Revenue", partial pole rental revenue is included in that figure of 435,242.


MR. MORAN:  Is that the double‑counting issue, then, that you have identified, the fact that it is ‑‑ that pole rental revenue shows up in both of those numbers?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Could you just ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry.  Why would it show up in both?


MS. SPEZIALE:  The way the worksheet model is produced, if you turn the page to page 5, this is a printout of worksheet 5.3, I believe.  This is essentially picking up other distribution revenue and it dictates the account that it is picking up.


The bulk of that, the entire amount of the 212,663 on this schedule, is pole rental revenue forced down by the 145,527.  


This worksheet works such that ‑‑ I can't enter the 212 amount directly in there.  It is a pulled number, but I have to enter the 145 there.  So when I enter 145 there, that number gets pulled from worksheet 2.4, so it drives that number down.


There were instructions ‑-


MR. MORAN:  Right.  Just before we get to that, in terms of the quantification, then, with respect to the double-counting, what's the number that the Board should be looking at?  How much was double-counted?


MS. SPEZIALE:  The 212,663.


MR. MORAN:  You were about to talk about the filing instructions, this -- that were issued to users of the EDR 2006 model.  Mr. Chair, for your benefit, the instructions are set out behind tab 10 of the compendium.  


I gather that was an issue with the model that had been identified?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Exactly.  And speaking with Mr. Davies of OEB Staff, he forwarded me these instructions last week, I believe.  And in the instructions, it does address that issue and how to correct it.  That was not done by us at the time of preparing the 2006 EDR model.


MR. MORAN:  So just for the completeness of the record, the problem, the double-counting problem was identified in the instructions.  A proposed solution was identified, but Mr. Wright didn't implement that solution?


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.


MR. MORAN:  All right.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is related to the base revenue requirement instruction?  Is that the one that was germane?


MS. SPEZIALE:  It's instructions to users of the 2006 EDR model, yes.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, again, just for your assistance, if you turn to page 9 of the instructions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Nine of 21?


MR. MORAN:  Of 21, that's correct, the handwritten 87.  At the very end of the first section at the top of that page, you will see a paragraph that says:

"Note that pole rentals are to be included as a specific service charge, item number 30.  See instructions to sheet 2-4, column G, for an approach to adjusting for 2004 pole rental revenue to avoid an invalid calculation of the revenue offset."


Then if you go to the instructions for sheet 2‑6 ‑‑


MS. SEBALJ:  I think it is 2‑4 on page 12.


MR. MORAN:  Sorry.  Did I say 2‑6?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  I meant to say 2‑4.  If you go to the handwritten page 91, in the second bullet point, you will see the statement:  

"Revenue from pole rentals should be subtracted from account 4210 and added to any account that is included in the revenue offset, such as 4230."  


Then it goes on to talk about future pole rental income.


So when Mr. Wright was putting together the model, those were the two paragraphs that are relevant to the double‑counting issue. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In other words, Mr. Wright did not execute those instructions?  


MR. MORAN:  That's correct.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  


MR. MORAN:  Now, in adding the issue of the pole rental revenue, Ms. Speziale, I wonder if you could take the Board through the comparison of what we see at tab 4, which you have already referred them to, and tab 8, which adds in the pole rental issue.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.  At tab 8, there is, again, two exhibits or two worksheets included in this exhibit.  The first one, again, being the mitigation issue, because that one would stay the same in either scenario.  The number hasn't changed.  It is the 70,088.  


On page 2, the next page in the exhibit incorporates both the customer migration and the pole revenue issue.  And the amount in the last column there increases to 383,910 from the 191,082 that was shown on tab 4.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Then when you consider the bill impact with the addition of the pole rental revenue, I gather we see that in the spreadsheet on page 9.  Could you take the Board through that, please.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.  Essentially, I followed the same process I did with the customer mitigation.  I readjusted the 2006 model, flowed it through to the 2007 and compared the differences in the rates.  


If you look at the far right-hand, last two columns there, the impact for the 1,000 kilowatt-hour residential customer, it would be 2.93 percent of the total bill impact and I believe under the previous one it was 1.75.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Which tab are you at now?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Sorry.  I am at tab 9.  


MR. VLAHOS:  That's what it was.  Where is the percentage impact?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  The last two columns.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Page 77 of -- 


MR. MORAN:  78.  


MR. VLAHOS:  78?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  The higher tab -- tab 9.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Tab 9.  All right.  Thank you.  


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, that contrasts with the same page that you see at tab 5, if you want to see the difference in the bill impact.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You propose the same treatment for this, that is, a November 1st implementation of a rate rider effective November 1st for this global change?  


MR. MORAN:  Right.  An adjustment to rates effective November 1st, so that the problem doesn't continue; and a rate rider to deal with the historical component of the problem.  That's right. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  And that's what these numbers indicate.  That is as of November 1st, that's the bill impact that you have calculated?  


MR. MORAN:  That's right, Mr. Chair.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  


MR. VLAHOS:  And that's on your models. 


MR. MORAN:  That's correct, yes.  The data for the annualized data is taken from the IRM model, which -- excerpts have been included behind tab 3 and tab 7.  


Now, my last question, Ms. Speziale, has to do with the fact that an issue was raised back in 2006.  You did your review and prepared for this process and as part of that identified the additional issue of the pole rental revenue.  


Is Thunder Bay going to come back with any other issues after today?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  


MR. VLAHOS:  That was a pretty soft "no." 


MS. SPEZIALE:  I have no -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  I don't know if the reporter picked that up. 


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  I have no intention of coming back. 


MR. MORAN:  Let me ask the question again.  Is there any possibility that Thunder Bay will come back with any further issue on the 2006/2007 process?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  That is the direct evidence that we wanted to put in front of you, sir.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Ms. Sebalj, do you have examination?  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. SEBALJ:


MS. SEBALJ:  I do have some examination, thank you.  


Some of these things are just for clarity for the record and for the panel.  I just wanted to take you through a little bit more of the chronology that is provided in tab 1, I guess it is, of Exhibit J.1.  


I just wanted to be clear about the three large-use customers that Thunder Bay says had either migrated or were about to migrate at the time that the 2006 EDR filing was made.  


These three customers migrated to other classes; is that correct?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.  


MS. SEBALJ:  And did they all migrate to the same class?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes. 


MS. SEBALJ:  And that class was?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  The 1,000 to 5,000 class. 


MS. SEBALJ:  Right.  Do you have dates for those customer migrations?  


MR. MORAN:  I think elsewhere on the record, Mr. Chair, it indicates that one was in January of 2006, one was in March of 2006. 


MS. SPEZIALE:  January 2005.  


MR. MORAN:  Sorry.  2005 and the last one was in December of 2005.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right. 


MR. MORAN:  They all took place in 2005.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you endorse that answer that your counsel has provided, Ms. Speziale?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, yes.  Number -- one customers transferred January 2005, second customer was March 2005 and the third was December 2005.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Did the 2006 EDR model filed by Thunder Bay reflect this migration?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  Yes, it did.  Mr. Wright had put the stats in with general service, he put it into the intermediate class. 


MS. SEBALJ:  Right.  That was created and then removed?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Just for clarity, on what basis was Thunder Bay Hydro's EDR filing made?  I think that technical conference transcript refers to the historical test year; is that correct?


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct. 


MS. SEBALJ:  And I don't know that I need to turn it up, either for the panel or for you, but just to be clear.  The adjustments that were made, i.e., the migration of those three customers into the lower class, and the inclusion of the large-use customer information in the model, neither of those qualify as tier one or tier two adjustments to the 2006 EDR handbook; is that correct?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I believe you are correct in that.  


MS. SEBALJ:  All right. 


MS. SPEZIALE:  My understanding is that they do not.  


MS. SEBALJ:  I think we heard, as part of the technical conference transcript, that this method that was used by Thunder Bay was a somewhat creative approach, to take a historical test year filing and then include these types of adjustments; is that correct?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I don't know.  I'm not sure how you would describe it.  Just for clarification.  I believe tier one and tier two were related strictly to the cost adjustments.  Is that correct?  That's my understanding of it.  And the revenue part is addressed in a different area.  


MS. SEBALJ:  No.  I think actually – sorry, I wanted to avoid pulling these up.  But they are both revenue and cost adjustments in the tier one and tier two adjustments to a historical test year filing.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I guess in the response to, on page 3 of the interrogatory, I guess I have made a reference there to a couple of paragraphs in chapter 9 of the Distribution Rate handbook, where it does address unusual --


MR. MORAN:  Sorry, Ms. Speziale, just for the record, could you indicate which interrogatory response you are referring to?  Which number it is?


MS. SPEZIALE:  RP-2007 --  


MR. MORAN:  The actual number of the question.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Sorry.  Question number 2.  


MR. MORAN:  Okay, thank you.  And maybe you could just indicate what the question is and then go forward with your answer.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  The question was:  

"The 2006 electricity distribution rate-setting cost was based on 2004 historical data with certain limited forward looking adjustments permitted based on post-2004 data, as outlined in the 2006 Electricity Distribution Rate handbook. The large-use error adjustment approach proposed by Thunder Bay Hydro appears to be forward-looking since while Thunder Bay had large-use customers throughout 2002 through 2004 period, it is not proposing to use that data to correct the error but instead a customer number of zero.  It is Staff's understanding that this is because Thunder Bay Hydro does not presently have any customers in this class, given the forward-looking nature of this approach relative to the 2006 EDR process, please comment on whether or not in Thunder Bay Hydro's view the proposed approach is in conformity with the 2006 handbook.  If so, why or why not ‑‑ sorry, if or if not, why a departure from the handbook is justified."


My response, basically, was:

"We appreciate that approach to the 2006 rate application might be described as forward-looking.  However, we believe that we are following the spirit and intention of the handbook."


And then I make reference there to chapter 9, that the report of the Board: 

"states in the final sentence at paragraph 1:

Therefore, the existing customer classifications are to be maintained, unless special circumstances are justified by a distributor."  


Paragraph 9.1 of the EDR handbook addresses customer classes:

"Changes in customer classes, subclasses or groups should only be undertaken if there are unusual circumstances in which a change is clearly and immediately required."


Paragraph 9.2 refers to:

"The intention of this cost allocation model is to allocate costs to customer classes in the same proportion as costs were allocated on average in 2002 to 2004, but with adjustments for the customers, where the number of customers or the throughput of any class has undergone a material change."


So I guess ‑‑ and the last one refers to costs.  


My understanding of it is the actual migration of large use customers to the general service greater than 1,000 to 5,000 class would have resulted in what would have been a material change to us.  Using the 2005 rates, the quantification of that move would have been like 397,000.  


So given that, I mean, I believe that that is the basis that Mr. Wright did the change.


MS. SEBALJ:  Would it have been possible for Thunder Bay to file on a forward test year basis as a result of these material changes?


MS. SPEZIALE:  I suppose anything would have been possible.


MS. SEBALJ:  Do you know, and I know you are sort of speaking for Mr. Wright in this, but on what basis any data was included in the model for the large use customer class?


MS. SPEZIALE:  I believe, as he set out in his management summary, that he wanted to retain the rates for that class, in the event that one of those customers went above the 5,000 kilowatt‑hour threshold.


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, I am just editing for things we have already discussed.


I wanted to talk just briefly about the quantification of the alleged under-recovery resulting from the inclusion of the notional data for the large use customer.


I think you have taken us through that, both at the Technical Conference and to some degree here, but I just want to be clear about what pieces fit under the large use customer issue and what pieces fit under the pole rental issue.


So it is my understanding ‑‑ and I need to find which spreadsheet in the most recent set of spreadsheets ‑‑


MS. SPEZIALE:  At tab 4, quantification of the customer migration is on the second worksheet under tab 4.  That is 191,082 for the 2006.


MS. SEBALJ:  That's the customer migration issue.  So that is the 100,000 is already included in the vary order, plus the additional amount that Thunder Bay is claiming should be ‑‑


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Right.


MS. SPEZIALE:  Sheet one is the migration issue.  Sheet 2, and at that tab is the ‑‑ sorry.  Sheet 1 is the mitigation issue.  Sheet 2 is the migration issue.


MS. SEBALJ:  So 70,088 is what remains to be addressed in Thunder Bay's submission with respect to the rate mitigation issue?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And 191,082 is the combined amount of the rate mitigation issue and the ‑‑


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.


MS. SPEZIALE:  This is the customer migration issue.  The combined amount is the sum of the two, which is 261,970 (sic), I believe.  261,170, which is on page 2 of the -- in part 3, the quantification.


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.  Page 2 of what document?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Tab 1, bottom part of page 2.


MS. SEBALJ:  The 261,170?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  My confusion stems from the fact that at the Technical Conference, we discussed a number of 237,436 for the 2006 rates period.


MS. SPEZIALE:  For the customer migration?


MS. SEBALJ:  No -- customer migration, yes, as opposed to mitigation.


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.  The most significant bit that is impacting that at tab 2, the last sheet, page 25, the street lighting, where it had previously been three and now I have put ‑‑ replaced it with the actual connections.  That had approximately a $50,000 impact.


MS. SEBALJ:  So the 191,082 is then the net of ‑‑ offset by the street lighting?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.


MS. SPEZIALE:  Essentially it is the model 1 for 6-2 with the information that I have on that tab 2.


MS. SEBALJ:  So the 191,082, just to be clear, is the net of all other corrections; it represents only the customer migration issue?


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Where do I find the amount in these tables ‑‑ I think I saw it under tab -- I now want to find the amount for the 2007 rates period for the customer migration issue.


MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.


MS. SEBALJ:  I thought that at the Technical Conference we discussed that it was 127,035.  So that is the period from May 1 to October 31st.


MS. SPEZIALE:  That would have gone down, accordingly, as well, which I believe is 96,000, which can be found on tab 5, 96,440.  The 2007 total impact on that page would work out to 192,880.  


I am just assuming a linear application.  I'm estimating that to November 1st it would be approximately 96,440.  


Again, that number is changed, I think, as a result of the impact of the street lighting connection, as well.


MS. SEBALJ:  So what had been 127,035, now net of street lighting, is 96,440?


MS. SPEZIALE:  [Nodded]


MS. SEBALJ:  And do I understand, I will move to the pole rental issue in a moment, but do I understand that -- is it tab 9 that gives us the combination of all three, the rate mitigation, the customer migration, and the other adjustments that have been made as a result of the billing determinant data changes?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's inclusive, with pole rental.  


MS. SEBALJ:  So tab 9 is inclusive with pole rental?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.  And there is a separate -- tab 5 is the total without the pole rental.  


MS. SEBALJ:  I see.  So tab 5 is inclusive of rate mitigation, customer migration and adjustments made to the billing determinant data, and tab 9 is all of the -- everything including the pole rental issue.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  [Nodded]


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have a question, just a clarification at this point, Ms. Speziale.  


As I look at tab 5, page 41 of the compendium, the number not including the pole rental adjustment that you seek is $357,610.  


If we go, then, to tab 9 for the all-inclusive adjustment that you seek including the pole rental correction, that boosts that to 650,195.  Now, that is a $300,000 jump, more or less.  


My understanding was that the pole rental problem was about a $212,000 problem.  How does it become $300,000?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  It was 212 in 2006.  So if we add another six months for 2007.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So that is the specific grossing up, if you like -- 


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- to accommodate the period, the intervening period?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  


MS. SEBALJ:  I note that in the information provided, both at the technical conference and in the -- and the information under tab 1 of Exhibit J1.1, Thunder Bay has referred several times to the amount to be recovered as material, both in the context of just the customer migration and rate mitigation issue and the pole rental revenue issue.  


As I understand it, Thunder Bay's rate base is somewhere in the ballpark of $16 million.  Is that correct?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes. 


MS. SEBALJ:  I'm wondering, then, if you can just help the Panel to understand how this amount is material for Thunder Bay.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I guess in the 2006 EDR, materiality, with reference to the fact that materiality would approximate $320,000 based on the guidelines there.  Because we operate on rate minimization, I mean, I think even smaller amounts are material.  Any sort of change, any sort of change of any size would impact us.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  As a result of your providing additional information with respect to -- I'm just trying to find the right tab, which is the one where the billing determinant data -- it's A1, what used to be A1 and is now tab 2.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.  


MS. SEBALJ:  It is at the last page of tab 2.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Hmm-hmm. 


MS. SEBALJ:  This is where you have provided us with some information on changes that have been made to the billing determinant data as a result of your going through this.  


Is there anywhere where we tease out the bill impact?  You had indicated that the changes for instance to the street lighting had resulted in, not in increases to the revenue requirement but to the allocation among customers.  I'm wondering whether we have an idea of what the rate impacts of those changes on a stand-alone basis are to the various rate classes.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I didn't do the calculations. 


MS. SEBALJ:  But it is about $50,000, I think you said?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  


MS. SEBALJ:  And that's a benefit to the customer?  These changes result in a net benefit?


MS. SPEZIALE:  They reduce the allocation to the other classes, and increase the allocation to the street lighting.  


MS. SEBALJ:  With reference to that same table, at tab 2, I have to confess that I was a little bit confused looking at it, and I'm still trying to determine.  


I now understand, as a result of your evidence-in-chief, why the notation with respect to what looks like four customers who moved from the, I guess it is from the 50 to 1,000 class or they moved down from the 1,000 --


MS. SPEZIALE:  They moved down. 


MS. SEBALJ:  From the 5,000 to the 50 to 1,000 class.  But I think what we were talking about at the technical conference was where the migration occurred from the large use category and into the 1,000 to 5,000 kilowatt category.  


I am still trying to understand, perhaps you can take me through.  I am sure it is just my spreadsheet reading but now in the large use, we're showing zero for all three of the years, 2002, 2003, and 2004.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right. 


MS. SEBALJ:  But the number of customers in the next class down, the 1,000 kilowatt to 5,000 kilowatt class, I just don't see how three customers were added but yet that class -- 


MS. SPEZIALE:  In the original EDR model, Mr. Wright had them already in that class.  He had the three, the count of three, and the statistics relating to that large-user class already in –- well, he had it in the intermediate class.  When the Board approved our rates, they rolled the intermediate and the general service greater than 1,000, less than 5,000 all into one.  


So the stats and count for the large user were already in that class.  So all that has been done is, is the removal of the count of one, and the kilowatt-hours statistics of 60,000 from this 6-2 determinant worksheet.  


MS. SEBALJ:  I see.  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Just simply removing the fictitious information that he had in there.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Right.  So I am trying to also understand why -- where the customers in this 1,000 to 5,000 class are migrating to from 2003 to 2004.  There appear to be another -- there appears to be another significant migration there.  


Is that the four customers --


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes. 


MS. SEBALJ:  -- that you then have a notation of above?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, thank you.  


Can you, then, confirm -- and I think you have done this in-chief but just for our purposes -- can you confirm then this is the most recent and most accurate billing determinant data from Thunder Bay?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, just for the record you have to articulate your "yes."  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  As I said before, I have gone through the information and I believe that in all material respects, these are sufficient -- the data, the determinants here are the most accurate.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  I have a few questions with respect to the pole rental revenue question.  


You have taken us through an explanation of how in the 2006 EDR model pole revenue was deducted twice from the service revenue requirement.  I think you have also acknowledged the Board had identified this issue in its instructions that accompanied the model.  


And I am wondering if you can just take me through.  The under-recovery for the 2006 rate year is 212,662. 


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right. 


MS. SEBALJ:  For the 2007 rate year, do we have that broken out anywhere?  Or is that just the difference between what the Chair has referred to and so it is basically 300 minus 212,662?  Or is that broken out anywhere?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Sorry, ask your question again. 


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.  I had the same issue that the Chair had.  I was trying to understand 212,662 then translated into what looked like a much bigger jump.  


When you move from the table at tab 5, which indicates that 357,610 is the all-in number for adjustments required for customer migration and rate mitigation, and then when you move to tab 9, the all‑in number is 650,195.


I think you explained that as the six months for 2007, on a go-forward basis?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  I'm wondering if you have just the pole revenue broken out for the 2006 portion and the 2007 portion anywhere?


MS. SPEZIALE:  I don't.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.


MS. SPEZIALE:  But I guess if you were to take the difference between tab 9, the 196,197, and at tab 5 the 96,440, that would be the six‑month impact of the pole rental revenue, so roughly $100,000.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Those are all of the questions that I have.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Ms. Speziale, I want to cover some of the same ground, just some confirmations first.


If you turn to page 2 of the chronology exhibit, if you look at the second full paragraph, beginning "In response to a letter", towards the end of that paragraph, it says that "revenue was lost due to this error," and, later on, "the vary order was silent on the notional large use customer issue."


We are talking about the same issue here.  This is the so‑called Board error?


MS. SPEZIALE:  In the December 2007 letter, Mr. Wright spelled out that there was a ‑‑ there were essentially two errors, the mitigation error and large user error -- or, sorry, customer migration error.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.


MS. SPEZIALE:  The vary order addressed the mitigation issue and was silent on the migration issue.


MR. VLAHOS:  It was silent?  Okay.  So the first ‑‑ the decision that dealt with the deficiency, but only going forward, and left it open to the company to come back and ask for some ‑‑


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  And that was dealt with in Mr. Wright's application, I guess, right, before you took over?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Dealt with -- I'm not sure I follow.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  The Board's error, there was so‑called clerical error, right, which was addressed in the vary order?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  Was it?  Now, what was the nature of that clerical error, in your view?


MS. SPEZIALE:  That was the mitigation.


MR. VLAHOS:  The mitigation?


MS. SPEZIALE:  The mitigation issue that was entered on worksheet 8-5.


MR. VLAHOS:  And the Board dealt with the mitigation issue going forward only; right?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  So part of the relief that you are asking today is for the Board to allow for that amount of money that relates to the previous period?


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's right.


MR. VLAHOS:  And how much is that?


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's the 70,088.


MR. VLAHOS:  The 70,000, okay.  Thank you.  Then the balance of it, the balance going from 70 to, what, now?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Going from the 70 to -- excluding the pole rental revenue?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, yes.


MS. SPEZIALE:  357,610.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, that's fine.  The 260-something?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, 261,170.


MR. VLAHOS:  And that deals directly with this notional large use customer issue; right?  It's not the mitigation?


MS. SPEZIALE:  It's not the mitigation.  It is the customer migration issues.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Customer migration, okay.


Mr. Wright had actually identified both of those problems?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  He did, okay.  That is before your arrival?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  So you have come on and you identified a third issue, the pole issue?


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Now, you had some exchange about materiality, and I just want to follow up on that.


Are you aware, from the company's perspective, as to ‑‑ I understand that the rate of return that they're earning or they have requested in the last little while, in any event, is not the full market return.  It is something a lot less?


MS. SPEZIALE:  2.93 percent.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  Is that 2.93 requested or just a fallout thing?


MS. SPEZIALE:  My understanding is it is the amount that is deemed ‑‑ we operate with a rate minimization.  It is the rate of return sufficient to fund capital and maintenance, operating.


MR. VLAHOS:  Do you know, if you were to go to full market return, what would be the additional revenue requirement for the company?


MS. SPEZIALE:  I haven't crunched the numbers, but I saw -- in the previous correspondence, I think it was around $2 million.


MR. VLAHOS:  About $2 million.  So can you tell me why the bother ‑‑ they want to bother with $357,000, leaving the pole issue aside for the moment?


MS. SPEZIALE:  I guess, from my position, we are operating ‑‑ we're trying to have the rate of return sufficient to do what we feel is necessary with respect to the operation and capital program within the distribution company.


So any significant change to that -- I realize what you're saying, that we're not, you know, increasing the rate of return to the tune of 2 million, but we are operating with what we feel that we need to.


MR. VLAHOS:  Actually, that leads to my next series of questions.


You are not suggesting the company is in any financial difficulties, in terms of raising capital and not having enough money to do its capital expenditure program?


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  You're not.  Mr. Moran, you're not grounding that motion on financial integrity?


MR. MORAN:  No, Mr. Chair.  I think what Thunder Bay is saying to you, given that they are earning a lower rate of return in order to keep rates as low as possible for their ratepayers, that the amounts that we're seeking do make a difference financially.  


We're not suggesting that the financial integrity of the corporation is that it's about to fall down and become insolvent, but it is an important impact in that context.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Ms. Speziale, going back to you, there is no issue about the banking or credit rating would suffer if you don't -- if you are not able to recover this?  Talking about debt raising, raising the debt instrument I am talking about now.


MS. SPEZIALE:  We're not borrowing currently.


MR. VLAHOS:  You're not?  So it is all financed from internally and --


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.  Well, and the proportion that was ‑‑ the debt from the city and rollover.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So the city now is the shareholder and the sole debt holder?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  There is no plans to go to a third party on debt?


MS. SPEZIALE:  It is premature for me to comment on that.


MR. VLAHOS:  There are probably discussions, but no plans as such.  There are no firm plans?


MS. SPEZIALE:  I am not aware of any firm plans, no.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Have you discussed with the company as to how would you explain to the residential customers of yours or the local barber shop or the variety store, that, you know, they have sold their goods and services with certain understandings, and then now they have to come up with some payment, where they cannot chase after their customers many months later?  How would you respond to that?


MS. SPEZIALE:  I haven't really given that a lot of thought.  We haven't discussed it, but I guess if I look at the bill impact, the percentage itself is not -- I don't think it would be an undue hardship.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, the impact you're talking about ‑‑ are we talking about 3 percent or something, or all‑in with the poles?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  So you don't feel it is an undue hardship for the customer, but you feel it is -- the same rate change would be significant for the company?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Now, the rate rider.  It would commence, I guess, in November of 2007?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  And it has a certain life; right?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  [Nodded]


MR. VLAHOS:  Its purpose is to collect what, the amount of the relief that you are asking.  So is there any concern, on your part, or should the Board be concerned, that the actual amount of money collected may be smaller or larger than the relief that you are seeking?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  That's obviously always an issue. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But you're not asking for a variance account to capture that difference?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  


MR. VLAHOS:  You're not, okay.  


Now, let me move to the poles issue.  Mr. Moran, I'm not sure what the status of it is.  Maybe you can help me.  What is the precise relief that you are seeking now?  Are you asking for relief?  Or are you asking for commentary by this Panel?  Are you asking for guidance?  What is it that you are seeking now?  


MR. MORAN:  No.  We're specifically asking for relief, Mr. Chair.  That was the purpose of amending the notice of motion last week.  


So when you look at tab 9, what Thunder Bay is proposing with a November 1 implementation date, is a rate rider to capture the customer migration and the pole rental issue up to November 1st of this year, and an adjustment of rates on a going forward basis as of November 1st of this year, so the problem is corrected in the rates.  And the rate rider is in place for six months.  


We recognize fully, Mr. Chair, that this issue is being raised as of the technical conference last week.  We are fully aware of that.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So Ms. Speziale, just going back to you, based on what Mr. Moran has said, so the relief you're asking for is 212,663.  Right?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  The actual calculation doesn't equate to the 212.  When I ran the information through the model, it actually produces I believe 192,000.  


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, again just for clarification.  The customer migration issue, there is a component for the 2006 rates period and a component for 2007 up to November 1st.  Thunder Bay has approached the pole rental issue on this exact same basis.  


So the 212 is the component for the 2006 portion.  And then the remaining approximately $100,000, which takes you up to about $300,000 is for the six-month period in the 2007 rates period, up to November.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Let me just rephrase the question, Mr. Moran, to see if you can help me.  On an annualized basis going forward, after November, on an annualized basis, what is the impact of the pole assessment?  


MR. MORAN:  Again, the nature of the request that Thunder Bay is seeking is a rate adjustment as of November 1st, that would correct, in the rates, the pole rental double-counting issue. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And the -- 


MR. MORAN:  On an annual basis, it is approximately $200,000. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  That is the correction to the rates.  That's going forward, prospectively. 


MR. MORAN:  Yes. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Then there is the retroactive issue. 


MR. MORAN:  Right.  Which is composed of two components, a 2006 component and six months of 2007.  


MR. VLAHOS:  And the total of those two is. 


MR. MORAN:  Approximately $300,000. 


MR. VLAHOS:  $300,000?  


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Ms. Speziale, here, we’re sitting in the summer of 2007 for an error that was made back, what, a year and a half ago?  


So do you think it is fair from a customer's perspective to make up that difference for the company?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I guess we were looking at it from the perspective -- well, when we adjust the rates, I suppose when we do a full cost-of-service study, all of that will be incorporated and rolled into it.  It will be a larger impact at that time, but correcting -- correcting the rates now.



MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry.  You heard my exchange with Mr. Moran, that there is, from is two components to the relief.  One is going forward, and then going forward in your application is starting November 1st, to coincide with some other rate adjustment; right?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.  


MR. VLAHOS:  There is that component.  The other component is going back and recovering $300,000 from customers on an error committed, admittedly so, by the company.  The company admits that it erred by not doing its financial books right or at least the rate filings right.  


So do you think it is for the customer to be burdened with that $300,000?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  It’s rates that that they should have been paying, had it been done in the first place.  So from that perspective, I guess it is fair and just rates.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Speziale, have you heard of the notion, regulatory notion called “out of period”?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Sorry?  


MR. VLAHOS:  “Out of period,” have you heard of that regulatory concept or term?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  


MR. VLAHOS:  You haven't?  I am sure your counsel has and I am sure he will touch on it.  Those are all of my questions, Mr. Chair. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  My question, Ms. Speziale, follows on Mr. Vlahos'.  It has to do with the characterization of the errors that occurred here.  


Do you make any distinction as to the nature of the errors in executing the 2006 rates application as between the customer migration issue and the pole revenue issue?  


How would you characterize the error that occurred with respect to the customer migration subject matter?  How did that arise?  What are the dynamics, in your view?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I'm not quite sure I understand your question.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, you have indicated, for example, let's go to the other side of it, the pole revenue side of it.  I think you indicated, frankly, that Mr. Wright just failed to execute the instructions that were there for him to implement, had he done so.  


That's one kind of error.  Do you see the customer migration error in the same light?  Do you think Mr. Wright just simply failed to execute properly?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  I suppose that when the Board came out with the final approved, perhaps going through in great detail the results of it may have brought this to light.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So it is an error of sort of searching through the ultimate result of that rate application.  


In terms of the -- well, that's helpful.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.  Do you have any redirect, Mr. Moran?  


MR. MORAN:  No, Mr. Chair, I don't.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will proceed to argument.  Why don't we take our morning break until 11:15, and we will come back and hear argument on the subject.  So we will stand adjourned until 11:15.  


--- Recess taken at 10:48 a.m.



‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 11:21 a.m. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.


Mr. Moran.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MORAN:

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


The first thing I would like to note, Mr. Chair, is that, as I indicated at the outset, the intervenors have had notice of everything that is being addressed before you today, and, as you can see, nobody has responded in order to take issue with what's being proposed.  


So, in my submission, what it really comes down to is whether, ultimately, the relief that is being sought is something that ought to be granted by the Board on the basis that it either does or doesn't constitute just and reasonable rates under the circumstances.


In the Procedural Order, the Board identified a number of threshold issues that it wished to have Thunder Bay address.  Those issues were:  Number one, is the motion properly constituted given the requirement to be timely; whether the proposed means -- number two, sorry -- whether the proposed means of correcting the error is in conformity with the 2006 EDR handbook, and whether the departure ‑‑ whether a departure from the handbook is justified; thirdly, the accuracy of the billing determinant statistics; and, fourthly, whether recovery should be prospective or retrospective.  


I am going to address all of those issues through my submissions, not necessarily in that order or with that structure, but I will be touching on all of those issues.


The chronology of this matter is important, in my submission.  Thunder Bay put in its application in August of 2005, and in that original application it was clear to Thunder Bay that all of its large use customers were migrating.  In fact, by the time the filing had been made, two of them had already migrated to the class below, and it was clear to Thunder Bay at the time that the third one would also migrate in 2005.


In looking at the situation, I mean, there was a number of possibilities available to Thunder Bay Hydro at the time.  Obviously they could have decided to go with a forward test year application.  Obviously they could have proceeded on a straightforward application of the 2006 guidelines using actual 2002, 2003, 2004 data, just ignoring the fact that all of the large use customers weren't going to be there anymore.


Then the third possibility was what Thunder Bay attempted to -- or what Thunder Bay applied for, which was to acknowledge the movement of the three large users and engage in some rate design.  


The justification for that is found directly in the Board's own report which gave rise to the EDR handbook.  Chapter 9 of the report indicated that existing customer classifications are to be maintained unless special circumstances are justified by a distributor.  


I think that is important, because it is not just the handbook that was there.  I mean, the Board's report was there, as well, and, you know, people were looking at these two documents and trying to chart their way through the process.


I would ask you to cast your mind back to what was happening in 2005 with the model.  There was a process, an extensive consultation process, that led to a report and led to the issuance of the handbook.  And as the Board will remember, the model itself, there were issues with it and there was corrections that needed to be made.  


It was a work in progress, and there was a time pressure at the same time that everybody was under, the Board and the applicant and the intervenors.  It was -- the purpose of the whole process was to get 2006 rates in place for May 1st in the aftermath of the removal of the rate freeze.


The other thing I would ask you to keep in mind is that because of the rate freeze, I mean, the utilities were really coming forward into a regulatory process, not having had a whole lot of regulatory experience.  I mean, that was clearly something that was at play.  


And the Board itself, in its decision on the handbook or in its report, you know, it indicated that, as a matter of principle, forward test years were the optimal way to go, but I don't think I am stepping out of line by saying that I think the Board was probably hoping that it didn't get 90 forward test year applications that year.  


The applications -- the historical test year application process was, in my submission, a practical approach to a logistical issue that the Board had to wrestle with back in 2005/2006.


So in the original proposal, then, given what the report said about the possibility of dealing with rate design and customer classifications under special circumstances, it is clear that from Thunder Bay's perspective that it thought it was facing special circumstances.  It was going to be losing all of its large use customers.  


And in order to address that issue, what it proposed was to recognize that movement and, on that basis, Thunder Bay proposed a new class which would take the existing 1,000 to 5,000 class and split it into two, creating an intermediate class.


At the same time -- and perhaps Thunder Bay was being a little bit too creative at this point -- at the same time, Thunder Bay proposed, in the model, a notional large use customer, and then to make the whole thing work, they used the direct rate mitigation sheet to ‑‑ so that the rates would work as they proposed them.


So that is how it started off.  


In its decision on the application, the Board determined that it would not approve the intermediate rate class, and then issued new rates which purported to implement the denial of the new rate class.  


The result, as it turns out, was that it would appear that the Board accepted the fact that the large use customers were migrating to the class below, because all of the load data for those customers was left in that 1,000 to 5,000 rate class.  


So the Board appears to have accepted that much of the approach.  It left ‑‑ it recognized those three customers as having migrated into the 1,000 to 5,000.  That is evidenced by the fact that when the Board removed the intermediate rate class, it didn't take the associated data that was put into that intermediate rate class as a result of the movement of the three large use customers.  It left that data there, in the new ‑‑ when it merged the intermediate back into the original 1,000 to 5,000 rate class.


However, having accepted that much of Thunder Bay's proposal, what the Board did not do, when it reran the model to give rise to the new rates, was to eliminate the proposed mitigation that was put in place to make that intermediate class work, and it did not eliminate the notional large use customer.


That was an issue that was not discovered until later in 2006, and the reason it was discovered was because of the load data analysis that was being carried out as part of the cost allocation process.  


And the moment that it became noticeable, it was raised with Board Staff, and I hasten to say not any Board Staff in the room here today, and then subsequently a letter was addressed to Board Staff, and it was dated December 7, 2006.  And those two issues were raised, the issue of the notional large use customer and the mitigation issue.


In response to that letter, the Board issued a vary order, and in its vary order what it said on its face was that the Board was correcting an error in calculation, and then issued new rates.  


When Thunder Bay looked at the new rates, it was clear that what the Board was describing as an error in calculation was this issue of mitigation.  The Board had, in its vary order, removed the impact of that direct rate mitigation measure that had been originally proposed, and the Board clearly said that it was removed on a prospective basis and that it was open to Thunder Bay to make a proposal with respect to how to recover the amount associated with the removal of that measure for the period May 1st, 2006 to the end of the year.


And that is the amount that you see when you look at tab 4 of Exhibit J1.1, there is a two page spreadsheet.  The first page deals with that amount, that's the $70,088 in page 1 of that two-page exhibit.  So that's the first piece that Thunder Bay seeks to recover, is the $70,000, which the Board said Thunder Bay could make a proposal with respect to.  


Now, the file got a little bit convoluted around this point, because when the vary order came out, again, there was contact with Board Staff with respect to the fact that the vary order only dealt with a component of the direct rate mitigation measure, removing it from as of January 1st and inviting proposals with respect to the amount prior to January 1st.  But it is clear that the vary order did not address the other question that was raised in the letter to Board Staff and that was the issue of this notional large-use customer that was in there and that was there.  The problem that that created was that having accepted the fact that the load data for the actual large use customers is now part of the 1,000 to 5,000 class and rates are set up, the rates were set up on a basis that assumed that there actually was one large use customer, and therefore there would be a certain amount of revenue coming in which actually wasn't coming in, because there was no large-use customer.  So that was the anomaly that Thunder Bay Hydro was facing in the aftermath of the vary order.  


When the question was raised, it was suggested that -- to Thunder Bay Hydro, that it could address the problem in its 2007 filing, IRM filing.  So that is what Thunder Bay Hydro did, and then when the filing was received, the Board notified Thunder Bay Hydro that that was not the appropriate way to address the issue, and that it should be done as a motion to vary.  


Subsequently, a letter was sent in to the Board, purporting to seek a variance and then shortly after that, a formal Notice of Motion, which was prepared locally in Thunder Bay, was filed and then, after that, when it was clear that there was an issue that came -- arose in 2006 and then carried on into 2007, that what Thunder Bay was really looking for was a correction on that issue that affected both of those rate orders, which led to the request to combine the two proceedings, the two processes for 2006 and 2007.  


So on the timing issue, the issue of whether the motion is properly constituted, in my submission, Thunder Bay has acted reasonably in the context of the large-use customer issue.  As soon as the issue became apparent, it was raised right away with Board Staff and subsequently in a letter, and the Board itself responded to the issue at the time.  Then in the after math, with the vary order, since the vary order didn't address all of the issues, it only addressed the mitigation component and not the notional large-use customer component, that was raised immediately and with the advice of Board Staff, Thunder Bay attempted to address it in its 2007 IRM filing, and then subsequently was directed by the Board to raise it separately as a motion to vary. 


So Thunder Bay did what it was supposed to do.  It may not have done it in precisely the right way procedurally, but it was interacting with Board Staff throughout this process, and based on that interaction it took steps to raise the issue.  


Now, the process that we are talking about, the 2006 EDR filing was prepared, as you heard from Ms. Speziale, was prepared by Mr. Wright, who is now retired and who has now been replaced by Ms. Speziale.  So it fell to her to reconstruct everything that had happened and become familiar with how that process was put together, and you have heard her evidence on that today.  


You have heard her talk about how, as part of reconstructing everything that happened so that she could present it all to you, she determined that, in addition to the original large-use customer, that there was also this double-counting problem with pole rental revenue, and as she has indicated and as the exhibits indicate, the amount of that double-counting was about $200,000 for the 2006 rates period and then, given the proposed implementation plan that Thunder Bay has put forward for dealing with all of the issues with implementation being proposed for November 1st, by the time you get to November 1st, that $200,000 is about $300,000 in total for the 2006 and 2007 rate period.  


It is very, very clear that the first time that that issue has been highlighted is as of the technical conference, and then through the formal amendment of the motion in the letter that was filed shortly after the technical conference last week.  


So Thunder Bay thoroughly understands that the issue is being raised for the first time as of essentially this week which makes it quite different from the other issue, because the other issue, the large-use customer issue, that that was something that started right in the original filing.  It was recognized in the original filing.  


The Board, in rejecting the proposal for an intermediate use class, recognized the migration of the large-use customers, and ultimately, when the issue was identified with respect to the impact of the Board's approach in rerunning the model, i.e., the direct mitigation measure was still in there and the fictional large-use customer was still in there, that was an issue that arose from the initial filing as put forward by Thunder Bay Hydro.  


So in my submission, there is no retrospectivity issue on that component of the relief that Thunder Bay Hydro is seeking.  It arose precisely because of what was applied for, and the existence of the issue came about as a result of the Board's disposition of that issue in the initial decision, and then subsequently in the vary order.  And there is still a holdover on that issue through to today.  


On the pole rental issue, and whether it is appropriate for the Board to consider, allowing Thunder Bay Hydro to recover that.  Again, the Board always has to be cognizant of the fact that there is a certain amount of fairness built into this.  There is an issue of fairness with respect to the utility.  There is an issue of fairness with respect to the ratepayers, and the Board is always striking a balance with respect to that.  


So the question is, is it appropriate, in that context, for the Board to consider allowing Thunder Bay to recover with respect to the double-counting issue back to May 1, 2006, as Thunder Bay proposes. 


I would say two things on that point.  Firstly, with respect to how the mistake arose, it was purely inadvertence on the part of Thunder Bay Hydro.  Again, the Board will recognize that when the model was sent out, there were issues with respect to how the model worked and it is clear that this was one of the issues that was identified.  And in the 21 pages of instructions that you see at tab 10 of Exhibit J1.1, you will see two paragraphs referring to this issue.  


The first one, as I indicated earlier, is set out at page 9 of 21.  The second paragraph is set out at page 12 of 21.  When you look at the two paragraphs, I mean, I guess the question is, was it something that was clearly identified as a double-counting issue?  You can look at it and maybe it didn't leap out at somebody, but maybe it should have.  I don't make any comment on whether it should or shouldn't have, you know, been obvious to somebody who is following all of the instructions, but there is a lot of instructions set out in this document, and there is two little paragraphs that deal with this specific issue.  For whatever reason, it wasn't picked up.  


However, more importantly, the question is, what does this mean for the ratepayers of Thunder Bay?  Thunder Bay Hydro has, as you see on the record and as you heard from Ms. Speziale, has always approached its rates with respect to minimizing them as much as possible for their ratepayers.  And as you know, part of that is Thunder Bay takes a rate-of-return at 2.93 percent instead of the full amount that would otherwise be allowed by the Board, and you heard evidence about what the difference is between 2.93 and the full amount.


So that has been to the benefit of ratepayers.  At the same time, the revenue requirement is what it is, and the pole rental revenue in the amount of about 200,000 for the 2006 period was deducted twice from that revenue requirement, and continues to be deducted for the purposes of 2007 rates.


In my submission, it is appropriate for the Board to consider allowing Thunder Bay to recover not just the remaining 70,000 of the rate mitigation issue, and not just the amount that was under-recovered with respect to the incorporation of a fictional or notional large use customers into rates, but also the double-counting impact of the pole rental revenue.


For the Board to look at exactly what that means, what the evidence tells you, if you turn to tab 4 of Exhibit J1.1, and if you have access to tab 8 at the same time, what you see there is the revenue shortfall at tab 4 without the pole rental revenue being included, and at tab 8 with the pole rental revenue being included.


The thing that you will see at both tab 4 and tab 8, that the first sheet in both tabs is the same.  The reason it is the same is the pole rental revenue doesn't affect the issue that's being addressed in page 1.  That's only rate mitigation issue, the 70,088.  


So in either scenario, that 70,000 is still there, and it is the impact associated with not removing the direct mitigation measure with respect to the period from May 1st, 2006 to the end of the year.  The vary order picked it up from that point on, and the Board said that Thunder Bay could make a proposal with respect to recovery of this amount.  


So that amount is the same, no matter what impact the pole rental revenue has.


If you turn to the second page of tab 4 and tab 8, that's where you will see the difference.  In tab 4, without the pole rental revenue, the revenue shortfall associated with the large use customer for the 2006 rate period is as you see there, 191,082, and with the pole rental revenue issue added in at tab 8, in the second page of tab 8, that amount becomes 383,910.


The other thing Thunder Bay has produced to you, based on how Thunder Bay has proposed to recover these amounts, if the Board is prepared to allow it to recover them, what you see at tab 5 and at tab 9 is the bill impact of the proposed method of recovering this amount.  At tab 5 it is without the pole rental revenue, and at tab 9 it is with the pole rental revenue being addressed.


If you look at the bottom line under the impact columns, you will see what all of those numbers add up to.  There is the 192,880, which is the additional 2007 revenue.  There is the 96,440, which is the shortfall associated from May 2007 to October 31.  There is the 191,082 in column M for the 2006 shortfall, and the 70,000 that we talked about with respect to that mitigation error.  And the total rate rider requirement, then, is to recover 350,610.


If you add in the pole rental revenue, that is what you see at tab 9 and as you, and in terms of the question you asked, Mr. Chair, the question was:  Why is it $300,000 higher?  The answer to that question, as has been indicated, is that 200,000 has to do with 2006, and then there is six months of 2007 and so that is another $100,000, and that gives rise to the full $300,000 difference that you see between not counting in the pole rental revenue and counting it in.


Without the pole rental revenue, the estimated total bill impact on residential customers is approximately 1.6 percent increase, and, when you add it in, the estimated total bill impact is approximately 3 percent, just under 3 percent.  


That is in the context of a six-month rate rider for the purposes of collecting this amount.


While I am on the question of the rate rider, I had a chance to get some instructions on the question that was raised with respect to why or if Thunder Bay Hydro was seeking a variance account on this recovery.  And the answer is they're not.  


And, in fact, Thunder Bay is prepared to accept a cap.  They will take the risk on the low side and they're prepared to accept a cap with respect to the balance to be covered on that rate rider, so that there won't be any over and the under is going to be on ‑‑ any under-recovery would be on Thunder Bay's ticket.


I want to speak briefly about the proposed implementation.  Thunder Bay Hydro, in coming before the Board in this process, proposed November 1st of this year as an implementation date.  That was really in order to reduce the number of rate changes that their customers might otherwise see.  November 1st coincides with the next adjustment on RPP in any event, and it was purely for that reason.


If for whatever reason the Board believes it is more appropriate to adjust rates sooner than that, then clearly Thunder Bay Hydro has no problem with that, and clearly the rate rider would be ‑‑ would be required to recover a smaller amount, if the rate change is implemented sooner than November 1st.


The November 1st deadline assumes that there is a shortfall all the way up to November 1st, and that is what the rate rider is designed to recover; but if a rate rider was put into place as of today or whatever, then obviously it would be recovering a lower balance, because we're not at November 1st at this point.


At a minimum, in my submission, there ought not to be any issue with respect to Thunder Bay Hydro's recovery of the 70,000 relating to the mitigation measure.  The Board itself clearly recognized that that was an error in calculation that had to be corrected, and in the vary order the Board corrected it on a prospective basis and asked for ‑‑ and said it was open to Thunder Bay to make a proposal regarding the amount of shortfall, revenue shortfall, associated with that measure prior to January 1, 2007, i.e., the May 1 to December 31st, 2006 period.


In my submission, there ought not to be any controversy about Thunder Bay Hydro's ability to recover that amount, and so at a minimum, in my submission, Thunder Bay ought to be recovering that amount and the Board ought to be ordering recovery of that amount.


By the same token, in my submission, there ought not to be any real controversy about the question of the recovery associated with the impact of leaving a notional or fictional large use customer in the rates.


The Board saw what Thunder Bay was proposing, saw that the load data for the large use customers had been transferred into the 1,000 to 5,000 class, and, in setting rates, rejected the creation of a new rate class but accepted the allocation of that data into the 1,000 to 5,000 rate class.  


Having done so, in my submission, in addition to removing the mitigation issue, the Board ought to have removed the fictional customer, because that's where you should end up, if all of the results of rejecting the intermediate class were factored in.


So there ought not to be any controversy about allowing Thunder Bay recovery of that amount, and that's set out as shown in tab 4, with the bill impacts as shown in tab 5 of Exhibit J1.1.


Which takes us then to the pole rental, and given the nature of the mistake, we believe there is a basis on which the Board can allow recovery back to May 1st, but at a minimum, the Board ought not to refuse an adjustment in the rates effective now.  If the Board is going to reject recovery in the past, then at a minimum the rates ought to be adjusted as soon as possible so that that double-counting doesn't continue into the future.  


Because clearly that was an inadvertent mistake.  It is a different kind of mistake than the issue with respect to the large-use customer, but nevertheless it is a mistake, and ultimately the basic principle is that just and reasonable rates are set in order to ensure that a utility can recover its revenue requirement and, with this very clear mistake, that has an impacts on the recovery of its revenue requirement all the way back to 2006.  But as I say at a minimum it ought to be corrected as soon as possible, now that it has been identified.  


So on that basis, Mr. Chair, I think I have addressed the issue of whether the motion is properly constituted.  In my submission, it is.  The issues were raised as soon as they were capable of being raised, as soon as there was the ability to understand that that was an issue.  


The Board itself responded with a vary order, when it was first raised the Board itself responded with a vary order.  But the vary order was incomplete in dealing with the issue, and Thunder Bay has subsequently taken the steps that it has to take to address the outstanding issue.  


So there isn't any question of timeliness with respect to the impact of the notional large-use customer, it is just a question of the vary order didn't address that component of the problem when it was identified.  The Board did address part of it, but it didn't address all of it.  


The question of whether the pole rental revenue issue could have been identified earlier than last week, that is a good question to ask; and as I say, given the context for Thunder Bay Hydro's approach to rates overall, the fact that it takes a lower return, all of which is to the benefit of the ratepayers, and they get the benefit of the offset against their rates in any event, it shouldn't be -- they shouldn't be getting double the benefit for that offset.  So at a minimum, that should be dealt with on a going forward basis, and we say there is a basis for dealing with it retrospectively as well.  


On the issue of whether the proposed means of correcting the error is in conformity with the 2006 EDR handbook and whether departure from that is justified, Thunder Bay Hydro says the Board has already accepted that putting the load data for the large-use customers into the 1,000 to 5,000 category, the Board has already accepted that as a reasonable approach, so that is not an issue, in my submission, because the Board already accepted that when it issued its original decision on the 2006 rates case.  The only question was, having accepted the fact that the load data forms part of the 1,000 to 5,000, whether there should be a notional large-use customer left in.  And in my submission, when the Board made a decision to reject the intermediate rate class, then it needed to remove all of those other things that were associated with that intermediate rate class.  So there ought not to be any issue with respect to whether this is in conformity with the 2006 EDR handbook or not.  


On the issue of pole rental, that issue doesn't arise because in fact what Thunder Bay is seeking is to go back to do it the way it should have been done, I guess the EDR filing and based on the instructions that were sent out as opposed to how the model actually treated those inputs.  


On the issue of the accuracy of the billing determinant statistics, you have Ms. Speziale's evidence on that and you've got the sheet 6-2 in the EDR model excerpts that are part of what you see in Exhibit J1.1.  


With respect to whether the recovery should be prospective or retroactive that is an issue that only arises with respect to the pole rental issue.  All of the other stuff is already fully engaged by virtue of the 2006 EDR rates application put forward.  So there is no issue of retrospectivity there.  It is a question of making the decision work the way it is supposed to work and no more than that.  


Subject to any questions you may have, Mr. Chair, those are my submissions.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  Mr. Vlahos.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one preliminary question just before my colleague's' questions related to what tranche Thunder Bay is in for a review of its rates.  Where does Thunder Bay sit in that queue?  


MR. MORAN:  It is not in the first group.  And I don't think the second and third groups have been determined yet.  But certainly Thunder Bay Hydro is expecting to be coming in either next year or the year after for rebasing.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Has the company done any analysis as to what the rate adjustment would be attendant to that rebasing, taking these factors into account?  Have you done any calculation on that score as to what the adjustment, in your rates would be, correcting this error in your subsequent cost of service rebasing exercise?  


MR. MORAN:  I don't believe so, but Ms. Speziale may have further information on that question.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you have any observations on that, Ms. Speziale?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, wouldn't that be the annualized impact of what we talked about today?  


MR. MORAN:  That is exactly what I was going to suggest.  That to the extent that if Thunder Bay had gone through the more complicated process back in 2006 of doing a forward test year, I'm not sure that the outcome, which would include obviously forecasting zero large-use customers, would be a whole lot different from the way it was ultimately treated with the Board allowing that load data to stay in the lower class.  


So I am not sure that the -- I mean, we all know when you do the forecasts there are other things that might be higher and lower, but in the grand scheme of things, unless there is something extraneous happening, I mean the trend ought not to be quite different from that.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Vlahos.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We talked about a November 1st 2007 implementation date, Mr. Moran.  You have allowed that you don't have to wait for that long if we think it is wise to do it sooner.  


Is the RPP the only thing that the company had in mind in terms of rate adjustment?  Or was it something else?  


MR. MORAN:  That is my understanding.  


MR. VLAHOS:  It’s only the RPP that you have in mind. 


MS. SPEZIALE:  To coincide with...


MR. VLAHOS:  There is no other rate adjustment that may be specific to Thunder Bay?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  


MR. MORAN:  No.  It is just a question of the Board requires customers to be advised of what’s happening on November 1st, with respect to RPP, and so from an administrative perspective, it was felt that maybe you could do both of those things at the same time.  But Thunder Bay recognizes that you don't have to wait, there is no magic to waiting to November 1st, beyond sort of the administrative and rate change issue. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Some would argue probably it is easier not to separate the two.  Maybe create confusion in different ways. 


MR. MORAN:  Right.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Especially if Thunder Bay is probably the only system that has to have a different kind of notice to customers than... 


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  So we're in the Board's hands on the implementation date.  That was simply Thunder Bay's thinking on it, but as I say, we're in the Board's hands on what is appropriate.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Speziale, how much time does the company need to recalculate the rate riders to reflect the Board decision, approximately?  Days?  Or weeks?  Or...


MS. SPEZIALE:  To recalculate…


MR. VLAHOS:  A rate rider.  If the Board says, Okay you're asking for X but you can have Y.  You're asking for six months, you can have six months or have a year.  Just go through this exercise.  Is it the push of a button?  Is it days?  What is it?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  It will take a day or so.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So it is a short time?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, it shouldn't take very long, because it is really a question of just going with the 2006 model, adjusting it, and then flowing that through into the 2007 model.  So it can be done relatively quickly.  


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  


MR. MORAN:  It is not the same situation you would so in a gas case for example where they might take 60 days to figure out how the rate riders are supposed to work.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Is that because they don't have a model there?  


MR. MORAN:  Perhaps.  You will have to ask them why it takes them so long.  


MR. VLAHOS:  How much time, Ms. Speziale, does the company need to implement the new rates, if -- I guess you to have to do some tests on the billing system, right?  How much time does that usually take, do you know?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Probably a reasonable amount of time would be a couple of weeks.


MR. VLAHOS:  A couple of weeks?  Is there any magic of having a commencement date of the new rates the first of the month, or it could be mid-month or any other day of the month?  Is there any constraints that the Board should be aware of in making an effective date different than the first of the month?


MS. SPEZIALE:  It's probably easier the first of the month.


MR. VLAHOS:  It would be easier?


MS. SPEZIALE:  I mean, implementation at any time could take place, just with an effective rate date.  I am just thinking the first of the month would make it a little cleaner.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  The reason for that is?  I'm not ‑‑ a question for my own benefit.  The reason for that?  Why is it easier to have an effective date of the first of the month as opposed to the 5th of the month?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Well, I'm just thinking, when we look at our stats, we often look at monthly statistics, so we could ‑‑ it would be a clean cut from one month to the next when the rates took effect.


MR. VLAHOS:  That is why I am asking the question.  How would you -- do you have ‑‑ 


MS. SPEZIALE:  Cycle billing.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  Thank you very much.  Cycle billing.  So it is never ‑‑ you're not going to be right on.  That is why I am asking, does it really matter, other than I guess it is easier to report, if you like.  It is an easier day to remember, the first of the month as opposed to the 5th of the month.


MS. SPEZIALE:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  You can have that effective date any day; right?  Does your billing system allow that, to have a proration?  


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Your billing system allows proration?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Finally, Mr. Moran, this is with respect to the vary decision, the Board's vary decision.


You describe it as being incomplete and I had here "deficient?"  And your argument it was incomplete, is this based on ‑‑ I was going back to see all of the filings of the company.  It was filed, I guess, a letter to Mr. Martin Benham sent by Mr. Thomas Wright back in December 7th, 2006.  Is this what you are referring to?


MR. MORAN:  That's right.  The vary order was in response to that December ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  That's the problem.  The vary order is not specific enough as to what it relates to.


MR. MORAN:  Well, I guess on its face, Mr. Vlahos, that is true, but if you actually look into what change was actually effected in the rates, it is very clear, and I don't think there is any controversy about it, that what was effected in the rates was the removal of the direct rate mitigation measure that had been put in and its removal effective January 1st of 2007.


So you are absolutely right, on its face it does not identify that, but when you look at how the rates came out as a result of that, that is the only explanation that is available.  And that was identified subsequently in further contact with Board Staff, which then led to the suggestion we'll pick it up in your 2007 rates case.  Then when it was done that way, the Board suggested, Now you have to do a formal notice of motion, which of course is true.  That is how it should have been done.


I think the other thing I can say, Mr. Chair, is that Thunder Bay Hydro now knows that it should write letters to the Board Secretary as opposed to Mr. Martin Benham or whomever.  It is a learning curve, as it is for every utility.


MR. VLAHOS:  I guess, I, for one, am somewhat sympathetic to that, Mr. Moran.  It is a learning curve, but at the same time I guess it is an expectation that -- we have been a regulator since 1999, and there is an expectation, a reasonable expectation, I guess, by the regulating company to know the process, the Board's processes.


MR. MORAN:  It is.


MR. VLAHOS:  But I hear you, okay.


MR. MORAN:  Agree.  You know, there is a holiday for regulation.  It is called a rate freeze.  So there wasn't a lot of interaction.  Everybody was on hold, and this was their first back into the water, as it were.


MR. VLAHOS:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have no further questions, Mr. Moran.  Ms. Sebalj.



SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SEBALJ:

MS. SEBALJ:  I did have just a few brief submissions, more by way of guidance to the Panel.


Board Staff does not dispute many of the facts that are provided at Exhibit J1.1, tab 1, and that is of course noted in the introduction to that document.


Those are the facts as described by Thunder Bay Hydro related to the chronology or the history of the matters in issue before this Panel.


Specifically, I believe that document refers to our agreement with the chronology of facts at part 2, and at least notionally the quantification in part 3.


Part 5, I believe, is the part relating to pole rental revenue, and although Board Staff was not made aware of this issue until the Technical Conference on May 23rd, we have no reason to dispute the facts as they have been described by Thunder Bay Hydro in respect of that issue.


Board Staff is also prepared to agree, at least notionally, to the quantification or the monetary amounts that have been provided by Thunder Bay Hydro, with one caution or caveat at the outset that I wanted to put forward, and that is that Board Staff hasn't had an opportunity to thoroughly review all of the data upon which Thunder Bay has based its calculations.  


So if this Board is inclined to grant the relief sought, either in whole or in part, by Thunder Bay Hydro, then we would ask that it be subject to a full calculation by Board Staff.


As you know, the history of this matter has not inspired a great deal of confidence on the part of Board Staff with respect to the actual numbers upon which some of this is based, and that's of course not a slight to Ms. Speziale, but I think she was handed some data that may or may not have been accurate.  But we just want to make sure that we don't have any errors going forward.


On the threshold questions, and particularly with respect to the issue of whether or not the Panel should hear these motions, I am going to point out things that are probably fairly obvious to you.  And that first thing is that all of the motions - and I am characterizing the motion with respect to the rate mitigation issue and customer migration issue - is separate from the pole rental revenue issue, and, frankly, is separate from what we now heard today with respect to some changes to the billing determinant data that reflects another $50,000 change on the street lighting issue.  


All of those were significantly out of time and I have certainly heard Mr. Moran's arguments with respect to why.  And I am hearing that as basically a discoverability issue, which I don't think is necessarily unreasonable, particularly on the issue of the customer migration.


Rule 42.03, of course, is the rule that provides applicants with 20 days, 20 calendar days, to bring their motion forward, but Rules 7.01 and 7.02 empower this Panel to extend or abridge that time at their discretion.


I would only argue that with respect to the discoverability issue around some of the errors that were either recently discovered or were discovered about a year after the rate decision, it does seem a little bit inconsistent, in Board Staff's submission, that if this issue was ‑‑ is as material as the utility has characterized it, that it took so long to discover.


I also note that in Board Staff's submission, I would ‑‑ we have seen what I would describe as three phases to this motion, which is the original motion, as I have described, which is the rate mitigation and customer migration issue; and the second, which is the pole rental revenue issue; and the third, and I may be overemphasizing, but the street lighting issue, which seems to have just been sort of slipped into the evidence today.


I caution that in Board Staff's submission, we should not be sending a signal to the utilities that they're free to dig through past rate filings to discover errors and have the Board address those errors at their leisure.


I note with respect to materiality, the threshold would not likely be met by other utilities of errors of this magnitude, because of course their rates of return are much higher and they're able to absorb errors of this magnitude in the normal course.  


I will speak about that just a little bit more in a moment.


Having said all of that, we're dealing here with a fairly unique case.  This is a utility that operates on a rate minimization basis, rather almost as, in my probably fairly inexperienced view, not for profit, if you will.  And so while this is entirely the utility's choice, it is not entirely without noble purpose, either, from a consumers' perspective.  And it is likely that these operating practices that makes the bumps along the road i.e., the discovery of errors that result in under-recovery that much more significant for Thunder Bay. 


The Board may want to bear this in mind when considering the threshold issue of whether to hear the motions and to grant the relief that is sought before it today.  


Just a note with respect to retrospectivity.  Board Staff tends to agree with Mr. Moran that it was clearly left open, the issue of retrospectivity was clearly left open on the rate mitigation issue.  And ultimately, it is obviously up to the Panel, but the customer migration issue is sufficiently intertwined with the rate mitigation issue as to make those two issues one and the same.  


With respect to the pole rental revenue issue, in our submission this is more clearly a Thunder Bay Hydro error and more clearly out of time.  This doesn't change the fact, however, that it was an error and that it appears to be inadvertent or innocent, if you will, and therefore the Board of course may grant that relief, if it feels it is in the best interests of the ratepayers.  


Both the pole rental revenue issue and the large customer migration issue, in my submission, appear to stem from errors.  However innocent or inadvertent or good intentioned made by the utility in entering data into the 2006 EDR model.  Having said that, had the errors not been made, the utility would have recovered these amounts in due course.  So from a pure rate-making principle, it seems justified that these amounts should be recovered.  


Having said that, it is also true that if the utility were not operating on a rate minimization basis.  For example, by increasing its ROE, even minimally, not necessarily to the full extent allowable to the 9.8 allowable, then the utility would be able to absorb these bumps, as I have characterized them, along the road.  So while Board Staff agrees with the facts and has heard that it will not receive further requests to address errors and further information regarding billing determinant data, we're not necessarily completely inspired, in terms of our confidence in the data that we have in front of us.  


For that reason, the Panel might consider either alternate relief in these specific circumstances, or perhaps encouragement to Thunder Bay Hydro to either adopt a different model or to ask for an increased rate of return such that it can better absorb potential errors or changes to its rates along the road.  Ultimately the goal here, of course, is to protect the interests of consumers and to set just and reasonable rates, and so with that in mind, the Panel, of course, has the powers granted to it by section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act with the provisions of section 1, the objectives in mind.  


Those are my submissions.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Sebalj, just a couple of small matters.  You talked about -- the economic conference about data and the opportunity of Board Staff to confirm.  Do you see that -- isn't that part of the normal process?  Should the Board decision say that:  Here is the finding, the Board's finding.  You, company, take those numbers back and file a draft rate order and at that point I guess Staff would have the opportunity to confirm?  Is that how you see it played?  


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  I didn't envision anything out of the normal course.  My only worry was because we have so much specific data in front of us, a decision that said,  You shall recover $434,000 for X would obviously not be desirable. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  I understand now.  Thank you.  You spoke of the street lighting issue, and I must admit I didn't catch the full story on this.  What is your understanding as to, is it additional revenue that is being asked? 


MS. SEBALJ:  It is ultimately as I understand it to the benefit of the customer.  I am speaking a little bit for the utility at this point.  But my only point was that, this is something that has only come to our attention today, as far as I know in the context of the data that was provided late last week.  


So my point was basically that changes continue to occur with respect to this data, either to the benefit of the customer or not.  And that we have had the statement from Ms. Speziale that there will be no other changes and that, of course, gives us some measure of confidence, but Board Staff I think does have some reservation about the preciseness of the data.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, can somebody remind me what was the issue about street lighting?  


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, just for the purposes of the record, so that -- Board Counsel has been extremely fair in her submissions and I just have one minor comment to make and it is on this issue.  


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MORAN:


When we were at the technical conference, Thunder Bay was asked to give an undertaking to confirm whether, what you see in sheet 6-2 are accurate or appropriate for rate making purposes.  So when Ms. Speziale went back to go through all of that, that's when she discovered that on the street lighting side, under number of customers, that in the original filing the number of customers had been identified as they, when in fact you are supposed to put in the number of connections.  So this was never put forward as an amendment to the relief or anything.  It was really in response to the undertaking, and so that Ms. Speziale could come forward and say:   Okay.  Now I have done everything and I am satisfied, I can say to the Board that these are -- this is a reasonable basis for running the model on.  So that is the explanation for the street lighting.  And what it does is it causes a $50,000 change amongst rate classes.  But it is now correct, as opposed to seeking -- but it doesn't lead to additional relief being sought.  


MR. VLAHOS:  It doesn't lead to additional relief.  It does not lead to an over-recovery on that account?  


MR. MORAN:  That's right.  It leads to a reduction in the bill impact for other classes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Right, okay.  


MR. MORAN:  In the amount of about $50,000 on the class basis.  


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Just in response, that is a fair characterization and I apologize if I insinuated that you were trying to slip in a new change.  But the issue, for us, is just that there is continuous change.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think your remarks were clear.  You were not casting any aspersions at all to Ms. Speziale who appears, by all accounts, to have been a breath of fresh air in terms of trying to provide some higher degree of confidence with respect to the numbers in this case, which, as Board Counsel points out, have been fluid.  


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So do you have any reply argument, Mr. Moran?  


MR. MORAN:  No, Mr. Chair.  That was the only point that I wanted to make.  So there was an understanding of where that number came from. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will defer its decision.  It is our intention to get a decision to you very quickly.  I think that is something that would serve all interests here.  I would like to thank Ms. Speziale, you, for your effort here, your very forthright evidence.  It is very much appreciated by the panel, it has been of great assistance to the Board and thank you for that.  I would like to thank counsel, both sides, very helpful, very cooperative manner, dealing with what is a very, at some level, a complicated set of facts and as I said, the Panel will attempt to give a decision to you as quickly as possible.  


Thanks to the court reporter.  We will stand adjourned.  Thank you.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:20 p.m.  
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